OA 2.3.78

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

NOV 7 1997

PUBLIC MEDICAL ASSISTANCE TRUST FUND; et. al.,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

Petitioners,

VS.

Case No. 90,326

NATHAN M. HAMEROFF, M.D.;

et. al.,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ERIC J. TAYLOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 337609

Office of the Attorney General The Capitol - Tax Section Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 488-5865 FAX

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioners, Florida's Public Medical Assistance Trust Fund, (hereafter "PMATF") the Agency for Health Care Administration (hereafter "AHCA"), and Douglas M. Cook in his capacity as Executive Director of the Agency for Health Care Administration, were the Defendants below, and will be referred to as "the Petitioners" in the Initial Brief.

Respondents, Nathan M. Hameroff, M.D., et al., were the Plaintiffs below and will be referred to as "the Respondents" in the Initial Brief.

Circuit Court Judge, William F. Gary of the Second Judicial Circuit in and for Leon County, Florida, was the court below and will be referred to as "the trial court" in the Initial Brief.

References to Petitioners' Appendix to its Initial Brief will be prefixed with the word Appendix, followed by the appropriate roman number, e.g., Appendix I.

NATURE OF THE APPEAL

This case comes before this Court from the appeal of a non-final order entered by the trial court. On May 2,1996, the trial court entered an order that certified a class action to challenge to the PMATF, which is imposed upon the Respondents pursuant to Section 395.7015, Florida Statutes (Appendix IX). That Order also permitted the Respondents to seek a refund of their PMATF assessments without complying with the Legislative mandate contained in section 215.26, Florida Statutes. In the First District Court of Appeal the Petitioners asserted that the trial court materially departed from the clear standard of law by certifying a class that:

- was represented by two class representatives that had not complied with any of the legislative mandates of the refund statute, Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, at the time of filing of the suit, contrary to many of the First District Court's decisions including State ex rel. Devlin v. Dickinson, 305 So. 2d 848, 850 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975);
- was represented by one class representative that had not complied with the time limitation legislative mandate of the refund statute, Section 215.26(2), Florida Statutes, at the time of filing of the suit and was thus totally barred from ever receiving a refund; and

3) included as class members persons who have paid money into the State Treasury but have not sought or been denied a refund in accordance with Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, contrary to <u>Hirsh v. Crews</u>, 494 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

The appeal of the trial court's May 2, 1996, class certification Order focused on:

- 1. those who have paid the tax but have not complied with Section 215.26, Florida Statutes before filing suit; and
- 2. that part of the trial court's ruling certifying a class of those who have paid the fee when the only representatives of this purported class are either barred by the statute of non-claim, Section 215.26(2), Florida Statutes, or is the only party who has to date applied for a refund, pursuant to Section 215.26, of the money paid (but did so only after the initiation of the suit and as of yet has not yet been denied a refund).

The Petitioners challenged the trial court's certification of a class consisting of those who have paid but not yet applied for or been denied a refund as required by Section 215.26.\(^1\)/ That part of the trial court's class certification order, the Petitioners asserted, was in direct conflict with the First District's rulings in State ex rel. Devlin v. Dickinson, 305 So. 2d 848, 850 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975); Medley Investors, Ltd. v. Lewis, 465 So. 2d 1305 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); and, Hirsh v. Crews, 494 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

1. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Respondents, Dr. Nathan M Hameroff, M.D, and his practice, Gateway Radiology Associates, P.A., (hereafter "Gateway"), paid the assessment imposed pursuant to Section 395.7015, Florida Statutes, in 1991. Respondents brought this suit in 1995, more than three years after the date of payment of its assessment pursuant to Section 395.7015, Florida Statutes, to AHCA. (Affidavit, Appendix VII). Gateway never complied with Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, which expressly requires a refund application and a formal denial before filing suit to recover taxes paid.

The appeal did not concern those persons who are only challenging the statute and only seek a declaration and injunction. Those parties can proceed to the merits without class certification if they chose to do so.

2. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondents' action seeks to challenge Section 395.7015, Florida Statutes. The statute imposes an assessment of a 1.5% tax on their annual revenues required by Section 395.7015, Florida Statutes, the Public Medical Assistance Trust Fund (PMATF) against "health care entities." That tax is deposited in the PMATF. Complaint (Appendix I). The Respondents seek to have Section 395.7015, Florida Statutes, declared unconstitutional, to prohibit future assessments and collections of the tax and to receive a refund of taxes paid. Complaint. Appendix I.

The Respondents claim consists of two separate and distinct parts based upon the relief requested. The first part is a request for declaratory relief and future injunctive relief. This relief seeks to halt all present collections of taxes and to stop future assessments by the Petitioners.

The second part of the Respondents' Complaint is a request for a refund of the taxes already paid under Section 395.7015, Florida Statutes. The Respondents seek judicially ordered refund of the monies paid to the Petitioner, AHCA. However, only two of the Respondents have paid the tax assessments imposed by Section 395.7015, Florida Statutes. The Respondents, Bay Area Heart Center, P.A., (hereafter "Bay Area"), and Gateway have paid the tax. Bay Area filed a refund request with AHCA, as required by Section 215. 26, Florida Statutes, but only after the initiation of this case. (Affidavit, Appendix VII). AHCA has yet to deny Bay Area's refund request. Respondent Gateway paid its assessment more than three years ago and has yet to file a refund request pursuant to Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, with AHCA. (Affidavit, Appendix VII). Petitioners assert that Respondent Gateway is now jurisdictionally time barred by Section 215.26(2), Florida Statutes, from requesting and receiving a refund of monies paid.

The Respondents brought this case as a class action to include all health care entities subject to the assessment under Section 395.7015, Florida Statutes, including both those who have paid the tax and those who have not paid the tax. The Respondents moved to have their

case certified as a class action (Motion, Appendix VI) including both types of Respondents. The Petitioners opposed the motion. (Appendix VII). The trial court certified the case as a class action on May 2, 1996, regardless of the lack of the class representatives and members individual compliance with Section 215.26 Florida Statutes. (Order, Appendix IX). Thus, the class is to include not only those who have paid the assessment, but also those who have not paid the assessment, not complied with the refund statute, or both.

In fact, the four class leaders of the certified class include two class representatives who have not paid the tax at all, one who paid the tax but did not file for a refund in compliance with Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, before the initiation of the suit and has not yet been denied a refund, and one who has paid the tax but paid more than three (3) years before the initiation of the lawsuit. (Affidavit, Appendix VII).

This class certification of the tax refund case is in direct conflict with the First District's decisions of State ex rel. Devlin v. Dickinson, 305 So. 2d 848, 850 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975); Medley Investors, Ltd. v. Lewis, 465 So. 2d 1305 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); and also, Hirsh v. Crews, 494 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). The trial court's certification order violates state sovereign immunity and does not conform with this Court's binding decisions and Section 215.26, Florida Statutes.

On 1997, the First District Court issued its opinion styled <u>Public Medical Assistance</u>

<u>Trust Fund, et al., v. Hameroff,</u> 689 So. 2d 358 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) (Appendix X). That Court stated that this Court, in <u>Department of Revenue v. Kuhnlein,</u> 646 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 1994), created "an exception to the general rule . . . which requires a party to first seek and be denied a refund before filing suit for a tax refund." <u>Public Medical Assistance Trust Fund, et al., v.</u>

<u>Hameroff,</u> 689 So. 2d, at 359.

On February 28, 1997, the Petitioners filed a Motion for Clarification, Rehearing and Rehearing *en Banc*, (Appendix XI), raising the following issues:

Clarification The Panel stated that Department of Revenue v. Kuhnlein, 646 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 1994) created "an exception to the general rule . . . which requires a party to first seek and be denied a refund before filing suit for a tax refund." The Supreme Court did not create an "exception," and did not eviscerate the requirements of Section 215.26, Florida Statutes. If the Panel believes that an "exception" has been created for "constitutionallybased" refund actions, the State needs clarification of just what is a "constitutionally-based" refund action.

Rehearing

The Court did not address the issue or resolve one of the issues presented by the Appellants. This issue, the requirement of a "timely" filing of a refund claim under Section 215.26(2), Florida statutes, is separate and distinct issue from the requirement of filing a claim. The issue of timely filing exists because one of the Appellees, and some of the class, paid the assessment more than 3 years ago before the filing of this lawsuit.

Rehearing En Banc

The panel has overruled or reversed at least 5 decisions of this Court. A panel may not overrule or reverse decisions of the court that may be done solely by the court sitting en banc.

The Petitioners asserted that the First District's decision erred because a review of this Court's Kuhnlein decision reveals no such statement by this Court. This Court did not discuss or expressly state it was creating an "exception" to the procedural requirements of Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, beyond the particular circumstances of the Kuhnlein case. The Petitioners also raised the question that a statement of "general exception," without a detailed description of just what the exception included, left the following unanswered questions:

- 1. Since Kuhnlein only concerned a simple "facial" constitutional challenge, is the panel limiting the exception to Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, to simply sole count "facial" constitutional challenges?²/
- 2. What about "as applied" constitutional challenges? These are challenges that may be avoided by an agency interpretation to the statute and rules;

^{2/} The Complaint in this case includes more than simple "facial" challenges.

- 3. What about case that include non-constitutional based challenges, that can be addressed by the agency, mixed with "facial" challenges?³/ Does not the agency have the right to attempt to answer these questions administratively before being hauled off to court?;
- 4. What happens to the doctrine to avoid constitutional challenges if at all possible? Requiring all refund applications to go to the proper agency can result in a refund without the need to address a constitutional question;
- 5. What effect does this "exception" have on the time in which to file for a refund?

The Petitioners also raised the timeliness issue, yet the First District's decision did not address the issue. By its affirmance left as a class representative a taxpayer who is barred by the language of Section 215.26(2), Florida Statutes, and permitted the class to include persons that are out of time under Section 215.26(2), Florida Statutes, thus eviscerating this nonclaim statute.

Finally, by its decision, the First District overrode, without any explanation whatsoever, five (5) of its previous decisions requiring strict compliance with Section 215.26, Florida Statutes. Those decisions were Florida Livestock Board v. Hygrade Food Products Corporation, 145 So. 2d 535 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962), Devlin v. Dickinson, 305 So. 2d 848 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975); Grunwald v. Department of Revenue, 343 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977); Exxon Corporation v. Lewis, 371 So. 2d 129 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); and, Medley Investors, Ltd. v. Lewis, 465 So. 2d 1305 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

The First District denied the Petitioners' Motion for Clarification, Rehearing and Rehearing *en Banc* (Appendix XII) without addressing any of the questions raised by the Petitioners.

The Petitioners would assert that this contains a number of issues that may be addressed by AHCA. The Respondents claim that they should not be included in those entities that are assessed. If so, the proper step, before going to court, would be to present that evidence in a refund application. If the Respondents should not have been assessed, then a refund could be issued and a need for suit resolved.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Requests for refunds of monies paid into the State Treasury are controlled, in procedure and remedy, by Section 215.26, Florida Statutes. The two legislative conditions precedent to receiving a refund of monies from the State Treasury are that the taxpayer 1) make an application with the Comptroller, or his designee, in writing; and 2) file such a written application within the time period specified in Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, from the date the tax, fee or assessment was paid to the State. If no refund request is taken within the statutory time period, the right to a refund is forever barred.

For the Respondnets to seek a refund, a refund application would have to have been filed by each taxpayer within three (3) of the date each Respondent remitted their assessment to AHCA. Section 215.26(2), Florida Statutes. The two class Respondents did not file any refund request with the Comptroller or his designee prior to the initiation of this suit. For one of the Respondents, no action was taken within the three (3) period stated in Section 215.26(2), Florida Statutes. Consequently, there has never been a "denial of a refund" to either of the two class Respondents.

The trial court improperly continued the action when it held that it did not have jurisdiction under Section 26.012(2)(e), Florida Statutes, to hear this action because the Respondents did not file any refund request with AHCA. The trial court improperly certified a class because in so doing the trial court elevated a rule of court above a legislative substantive statute.

This Court should reaffirm State ex rel. Victor Chemical v. Gay, 74 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 1954) and its holding that one who seeks a refund of monies paid into the state treasury must first file a refund claim with the Comptroller and make a timely claim for a refund, as provided in Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, or be forever barred.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE RESPONDENTS WERE REQUIRED TO STRICTLY FOLLOW THE LEGISLATIVE MANDATE AND LANGUAGE OF SECTION 215.26, FLORIDA STATUTES
 - A. ALL TAXPAYERS SEEKING A REFUND <u>MUST</u> FILE A TIMELY REFUND APPLICATION, PURSUANT TO SECTION 215.26, FLORIDA STATUTES, WITH THE COMPTROLLER.

All the procedural requirements set forth in Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, **must** be fully, and timely, met before a taxpayer may receive a refund or seek judicial relief. One must follow the provisions of Section 215.26, Florida Statutes. The requirements of Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, are procedural, exclusive and mandatory. Failure to comply with all of the provisions bars a taxpayer from seeking judicial relief under all circumstances. Since the Respondents failed to comply with any of the provisions of Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, Respondents are jurisdictionally barred from seeking a refund or acquiring judicial relief.

1. THE LEGISLATURE, THROUGH SECTION 215.26, FLORIDA STATUTES, REQUIRES ALL TAXPAYERS SEEKING A REFUND TO FIRST APPLY FOR A REFUND FROM THE COMPTROLLER.

On October 19, 1996, the Third District Court of Appeal decided the case of Westring v. Department of Revenue, 682 So. 2d 171 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1996), review denied, 686 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1996).⁴/ In that case, the Third District noted the following facts:

Westring, suing individually and as the representative of a purported class of similar taxpayers, sought declaratory and injunctive relief and a refund, contending that the [documentary stamp] tax [of Chapter 201, Florida Statutes] was invalidly imposed. The Department of Revenue moved to dismiss on the grounds that no claim for a refund had been filed, . . .

Shortly after its decision in <u>Westring</u>, but prior to its decision in <u>Miami Tire</u>

<u>Soles, Inc., v. Department of Revenue</u>, So. 2d, 22 Fla. Law Weekly D1479g, (Fla. 3d DCA June 18, 1997), the Third District decided <u>State</u>, <u>Department of Revenue v. Bauta</u>, 691 So. 2d 1173, (Fla. 3d DCA 1997), <u>review pending</u>, Case No. 91,081, Florida Supreme Court. The Third District, in <u>Bauta</u>, did not have to decide any constitutional claims, either facial or as applied for none were raised in the court below.

<u>Id.</u> at 172. Mr Westring did not file a claim for a refund and the Department moved to dismiss. The Third District affirmed the dismissal, based upon Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, stating

Under the authority of State ex rel. Victor Chemical Works v. Gay, 74 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 1954), [a party] is required to file a claim for a refund pursuant to s. 215.26, Fla. Stat. (1993), before he may invoke the jurisdiction of the circuit court. In Victor Chemical, the supreme court, in dealing with the statute at issue here, quoted with approval a discussion from one of its previous cases regarding statutes of nonclaim arising in the probate context: "where no exemption from the provisions of a statute exists, the court is powerless to create one." Id., at 563 (internal citations omitted)(e.s.).

Westring, 682 So. 2d at 172.

The Third District's holding in <u>Westring</u>, is correct. The only method by which a person who paid money to the State can obtain a refund is by following the specific provisions of Florida's refund statute, Section 215.26, Florida Statutes. The State makes this assertion because Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, is:

the <u>exclusive</u> procedure and remedy for refund claims between individual funds and accounts in the State Treasury.

Section 215.26(4), Florida Statutes (e.s.). As the exclusive remedy/procedure by which an aggrieved taxpayer may obtain a refund from the State, the person seeking a refund **must** comply with Section 215.26, Florida Statutes.

The procedure for requesting a refund is clear and unambiguous. Section 215.26(1), Florida Statutes, sets out the circumstances which give rise to a refund. The grounds for a refund are:

- a. An overpayment of any tax, license or account due;
- b. A payment where no tax, license or account is due; and
- c. Any payment made into the state treasury in error.

Section 215.26(1), Florida Statutes. When a taxpayer believes he has grounds for a refund, the taxpayer is to file a refund application with the Comptroller.⁵/ Section 215.26(2), Florida

⁵/ Section 215.26(2), Florida Statute, permits the Comptroller to delegate the authority to accept a refund request and to decide upon its validity. By Rule 3A-44.020(1), Florida Administrative Code, the Comptroller has exercised his discretion and delegated to

Statutes. However, the taxpayer has a time limitation, the taxpayer's application for a refund:

shall be filed with the Comptroller, . . ., within 3 years after the right to such refund shall have accrued else such right shall be barred. (e.s.)

This Court has long held that strict compliance with Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, is a must to receive a refund.⁶/ The Supreme Court visited the issue in detail in <u>State ex rel. Victor Chemical Works v. Gay</u>, 74 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 1954). This Court began its discussion of Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, with the basic premise of all refund law that:

unless there is some statute which authorizes a refund or the filing of a claim for a refund, money cannot be refunded or recovered once it has been paid although levied under the authority of an unconstitutional statute.

Victor Chemical Works, 74 So. 2d, at 562. That Court then recognized the legal fact that

Sometimes conditions are annexed to the right to a refund whch [sic] must be complied with, such as the making of the claim within a specified time. It seems that defects in the form of sufficiency of the claim may be waived, but the statutory requirement that the claim be file in the prescribed time may not be waived. (e.s.)

<u>Id.</u> Two of those conditions are the filing of a refund request under Section 215.26(2), Florida Statutes, and filing a refund application within the specified time. <u>Id.</u>

Of particular importance, to this case and the issues herein, the Supreme Court, when addressing "exceptions" from a statute of nonclaim, stated clearly and succinctly **twice**:

[W]here no exemption from the provisions of a statute exist, the court is powerless to create one. . . .

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