NA 2-3.98

1760

IN THE	SUPREME	COLIDI		
IN IHE	SUPREME	COURT	UF FL	URIUA

PUBLIC MEDICAL ASSISTANCE TRUST FUND; et. al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

Case No. 90,326

DEC

Grand Displayers had

NATHAN M. HAMEROFF, M.D., et. al., individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Respondents.

On a Petition for Discretionary Review
Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv)

#### **RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF**

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

#### ARGUMENT

This Court has previously rejected Petitioners' identical arguments that protesting taxpayers must file pre-suit refund requests before the trial court's jurisdiction could be invoked. Department of Revenue v. Kuhnlein, 646 So.2d 717 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2608 (1995). This Court has also laid to rest any misconceptions about the role of sovereign immunity when considering the need to protect a taxpayer's rights in the face of an unconstitutional taxing statute:

Sovereign immunity does not exempt the State from a challenge based on violation of the federal or state constitutions, because any other rule self-evidently would make constitutional law subservient to the state's will. Moreover, neither the common law nor a state statute can supersede a provision of the federal or state constitutions.

646 So.2d at 721.

In the present case, both the trial court and the First District Court of Appeal properly followed the directives of Kuhnlein in certifying Respondents' challenge to Florida's PMATF taxing statute as a class action. Respondents attack the facial constitutionality of the PMATF statute as a violation of several state and federal constitutional provisions, including denial of equal protection and due process of law. *Petitioners' Appendix at X (Class Certification Order) and I (Class Representation Complaint).* Under these facts, the First District properly applied "the clear holding in Kuhnlein that fulfilling the State's refund procedures is not a condition precedent to bringing a constitutionally-based refund action." Public Medical Assistance Trust Fund v. Hameroff, 689 So.2d 358, 359 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) (emphasis added).

The First District, in <u>Hameroff</u>, had little difficulty adhering to the principles of <u>Kuhnlein</u>. However, based upon the questions recently certified by the Third¹ (cases which do not appear to raise constitutional concerns) and Fourth² District Courts of Appeal, it appears that <u>Victor Chemical Works v. Gay</u>, 74 So.2d 560 (Fla. 1954) continues to create questions concerning the applicability and scope of Florida's refund statute.

Respondents urge that the <u>Kuhnlein-Hameroff-Nemeth</u> line of decisions are correct in properly creating an exception to the pre-suit refund application requirement for constitutionally-based challenges to taxing statutes because the Florida Legislature has never evidenced a clear intent in Section 215.26 that exhaustion of administrative remedies is mandatory or that compliance with the refund statute is jurisdictional. Therefore, judicial discretion may be exercised in permitting exceptions to strict compliance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Westring v. Department of Revenue, 682 So.2d 171 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), *rev. denied*, 686 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1996) (class action challenging definition of "consideration" in connection with documentary stamp tax on post-dissolution of marriage transfers of real property); Department of Revenue v. Bauta, 691 So.2d 1173 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) (same challenge as Westring), *rev. pending*, Case No. 91,081; Miami Tiresoles, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 695 So.2d 851, *rev. pending* (non-constitutional challenge to validity of waste tire fee, certified conflict with Nemeth v. Department of Revenue, 686 so.2d 778 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1997) and PMATF v. Hameroff, *supra*, while certifying as a question of great public importance whether Kuhnlein overruled or receded from Victor Chemical.

Nemeth v. Department of Revenue, 686 So.2d 778 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1997), *rev. pending*, Case No. 89,909 (uphold class action challenging the facial constitutionality and seeking refunds under an earlier version of Florida's vehicle impact fee but certified as a question of great public importance whether <u>Kuhnlein</u> overruled or receded from <u>Victor Chemical</u> "to the extent that <u>Victor Chemical</u> holds that the right to a refund of taxes is barred if the taxpayer fails to make a timely claim for refund as provided in Section 215.26, Florida Statutes." 686 So.2d at 780 (compare with the broader question certified in <u>Miami Tiresoles</u>, *supra*, note 1).)

particularly where, as here, the PMATF statute is alleged to be unconstitutional on its face and an administrative hearing officer is powerless to make any such finding.

With regard to the applicable limitation period for bringing a refund action -- an issue not specifically addressed in <u>Kuhnlein</u> -- it is respectfully suggested that Section 215.26(2) is properly viewed as a statute of limitation since due process requires nothing less. The accrual of a cause of action for a refund should not commence until such time as the taxpayer is aware of such a right, which is consistent with the requirements of the U. S. Supreme Court's decision in <u>McKesson Corporation v. Division of Alcoholic Beverages</u>, 496 U.S. 18, 110 S.Ct. 2238 (1990).

# I. COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 215.26 IS NOT A CONDITION PRECEDENT IN THIS CONSTITUTIONALLY-BASED REFUND ACTION.

Petitioners' have urged strict compliance with Florida's refund statute as a legislatively-imposed jurisdictional condition precedent to any suit seeking a tax refund. Petitioners also argue that Section 215.26 is a statute of non-claim and that the failure to timely file an application for a refund divests the circuit court of jurisdiction. Petitioners continue to assert this position despite this Court's recent holding in <u>Kuhnlein</u> creating an exception to compliance with Section 215.26 for constitutionally-based refund actions. To the extent that the claims of the <u>Hameroff</u> class representatives or class members were made without a prior refund application or more than three years since the date of first payment, Petitioners argue that such claims are now barred.

Such an interpretation, however, files in the face of the legislative intent behind Florida's refund statute which is to serve as an available administrative remedy for refunding taxes paid improperly, thereby potentially avoiding the necessity of litigation. Reynold's Fasteners, Inc. v. Wright, 197 So.2d 295 (Fla. 1967).

A. Florida's Refund Statute is Not Jurisdictional,
But an Administrative Remedy Subject to Judicial
Discretion.

Section 215.26 contains no indication that it is intended to be jurisdictional. Similarly, the PMATF statute makes no provision whatsoever for challenging the validity of the assessment or seeking a refund of any assessments paid. Further, Florida's refund statute does not reference or include the PMATF tax.

Additionally, Section 72.011, a statute specifically authorizing alternative remedies for protesting taxpayers of either filing an administrative complaint or filing an action in the circuit court to contest the denial of a refund, does not include PMATF taxes. §72.011(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1995). The remedies described in Section 72.011 are limited to the particular taxes listed. A protesting PMATF taxpayer is left to wade through a maze of complex statutory provisions (none of which expressly include the PMATF tax) to determine how to challenge the assessment and seek refunds.<sup>3</sup> Florida's refund statute

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It is significant to note that Respondent/Class Representative Bay Area Heart Center, P.A., through counsel, advised Petitioner Agency for Health Care Administration that it would be submitting the challenged assessments "under protest" because it was wrongfully classified as a diagnostic imaging center and advised AHCA that:

We are unable to locate any statutory or regulatory procedures for filing the PMATF assessments under protest or seeking refunds for wrongfully collected assessments. Thus, we are providing the Agency with notice of

has been implicated in this case solely through Petitioners' defenses raised in the trial court below.

Other than the certified cases pending before this Court (*supra* notes 1 and 2), there have only been three significant instances when this Court has been called upon to interpret and/or apply Florida's refund statute. At the second such instance (the first being <u>Victor Chemical</u> and the third being <u>Kuhnlein</u>) in <u>Reynold's Fasteners v. Wright</u>, *supra*, this Court accepted jurisdiction based upon conflict between the Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal concerning the appropriate limitation to apply in suits seeking recovery of personal property taxes paid under protest. All parties agreed that the personal property was immune from taxation under the import/export clause of the U.S. Constitution. One of the issues was whether the taxpayers were required to first seek a refund before instituting suit.

The Reynolds' court was faced with several different refund statutes, including Section 215.26. This Court concluded that a pre-suit refund request was required but described compliance with the refund statutes as an administrative remedy. This Court

protest via this letter. If the Agency requires alternative procedures, please promptly advise of them so that we may comply.

None of the Petitioners, including AHCA, has ever responded in any manner to Bay Area's request for information on filing under protest or seeking a refund. After the issue was raised in litigation, Bay Area Heart filed its refund application on or about April 18, 1996 pursuant to Section 215.26, without waiver of its rights to contest the applicability of the refund statute. To date there has been no response whatsoever to Bay Area Heart's refund application. Petitioners' Appendix at VIII (Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion for Class Certification at 5-6).

<sup>(3</sup> Cont'd.)

held that refund statutes generally, including 215.26, were created as a means for the protesting taxpayer to attempt to resolve their refund request through administrative remedies:

There are a number of these refund statutes applying to various tax payments and other refund claims . . . This focuses attention on the necessity to comply with the provisions of these statutory provisions as *exhausting* administrative remedies.

The statutes here involved provide a full and adequate remedy avoiding the necessity of litigation if refund is granted by the comptroller and if not, contemplating use of all existing court remedies.

197 So.2d at 297 (emphasis added); see also, Florida Livestock Board v. High Grade Food Products Corp., 145 So.2d 535, 537 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1962) (the First District held specifically that Section 215.26 "is intended to provide an *administrative procedure* by which a person may secure a refund of monies paid by him into the treasury of this state, if such payment was made under any of the conditions specified in the statute.") (emphasis added).

Neither the First District in Florida Livestock Board, nor this Court in Reynold's Fasteners, found compliance with the refund statute to be jurisdictional. Nor did either court describe compliance as a necessary legislative condition precedent to bringing suit. This is significant because the doctrine requiring exhaustion of administrative remedies is not jurisdictional. It is a court-created prudential doctrine, a matter of policy, not power. Gulf Pines Memorial Park v. Oakland Memorial Park, 361 So.2d 695 (Fla. 1978). Compliance with Florida's refund statute should properly be viewed as an administrative remedy which, as a doctrine of court-created deference, may be disregarded in appropriate

circumstances. <u>Department of Revenue v. Brock</u>, 576 So.2d 848, 850 (Fla. 1st DCA) *rev. denied*, 584 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1991). As demonstrated hereinbelow, the facts of our case are an appropriate circumstance to disregard the refund statute because an administrative hearing officer is powerless to declare a statute facially unconstitutional.

The exhaustion doctrine assures that an agency responsible for implementing a statutory scheme has a full opportunity to reach a sensitive, mature and complete decision upon a fully developed record. Key Haven Associated Enterprises, Inc. v., Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund, 427 So.2d 153, 158 (Fla. 1982). Typically, exhaustion is required because an administrative remedy is contemplated as being adequate. Gulf Pines, 361 So.2d at 699. And, if resolved within the context of an administrative proceeding, the necessity of litigation is avoided. Reynold's Fasteners, supra.

Unless specifically mandated by the legislature, however, exhaustion is not required and sound judicial discretion governs. McCarthy v. Madigan, 503 U.S. 140, 144, 112 S.Ct. 1081, 1086 (1992); McGee v. United States, 402 U.S. 479, 483, n. 6, 91 S.Ct. 1565, n. 6 (1971) ("where Congress has not *clearly required* exhaustion, sound judicial discretion governs") (emphasis added). A specific mandate by the legislature is based either upon express statutory directives or gleaned from legislative intent. McCarthy, 503 U.S. at 144. Neither the language of the refund statute nor its legislative intent supports a conclusion that exhaustion is required.

This Court's analysis in <u>Reynold's Fasteners</u> did not conclude that the legislature required exhaustion under the refund statute. Similarly, a review of the language of

Section 215.26 fails to demonstrate any specific legislative mandate that the statute is intended to be the exclusive procedure or remedy available to protesting taxpayers seeking a refund. Petitioners' argue that an administrative mandate was expressly written into the refund statute (Initial Brief at 13), and that Section 215.26(4) demonstrates a legislative intent that the refund statute is the exclusive remedy and procedure by which an aggrieved taxpayer may obtain a refund from the state (Initial Brief at 9). These arguments are simply unsupportable and less than accurate.

Petitioners' rely on the language of Section 215.26(4) (added by amendment in 1983) to support their argument of "exclusive procedure and remedy" for taxpayer refunds:

This section is the exclusive procedure and remedy for refund claims between *individual funds* and accounts in the state treasury.

§215.26(4), Fla. Stat. (1995) (emphasis added); §28, Laws of Florida 1983, Ch. 83-339. A plain reading of the excerpted section makes clear, however, that the exclusivity reference to individual funds means trust funds, not individual citizens seeking tax refunds. This interpretation is further bolstered by the Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement prepared June 15, 1983 for this legislation (Senate Bill 4-B):

Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, is amended to provide that the procedure provided for the refund of monies paid into the state treasury in error, *from interfund transfers*, be the exclusive procedure and remedy available to individual funds and accounts in the state treasury.

Finally, the jurisdiction of the courts in tax matters is considered paramount. The Florida Constitution contemplates relief after payment of illegal taxes through a court action, not administratively. Art. VII, §13, Fla. Const. ("Until payment of all taxes which

may have been legally assessed upon the property of the same owner, **no court** shall grant relief from the payment of any tax that may be illegal or illegally assessed" - emphasis added). Additionally, the circuit courts have exclusive original jurisdiction "in all cases involving legality of any tax assessment or . . . denial of refund except as provided in s.72.011." §26.012(2)(e), Fla. Stat. (1995). Therefore, when considering the provisions of the Florida Constitution, Section 26.012(2)(e), and Section 215.26, it does not appear that the legislature ever intended Section 215.26 as a jurisdictional condition precedent to the initiation of an action for a tax refund.

While Petitioners have cited many reasons why the Respondents should first pursue their refund claims administratively through the Comptroller and/or AHCA pursuant to Section 215.26 (Initial Brief at 13-15)<sup>4</sup>, none of the reasons can realistically include a refund of the PMATF taxes paid because the PMATF statute is being challenged as facially unconstitutional. Quite simply, ours is one of the situations where exhaustion of administrative remedies is not only unavailing but futile, a useless act and a complete waste of time since administrative hearing officers lack jurisdiction to consider constitutional issues. Department of Revenue v. Young American Builders, 330 So.2d 864 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976). Under these circumstances, when administrative proceedings can

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